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Located on the boundary between Lancaster County, South Carolina, and Union County, 
North Carolina, the North Carolina-South Carolina Cornerstone is an uneven, rectangu­
lar, upright stone marker, approximately two feet high. It was erected in 1813 by 
commissioners from North Carolina and South Carolina appointed to survey a section of 
the boundary between the two states. The stone is of the class metamorphosed igneous 
and is of local origin. The top part of the cornerstone, which contains the engraved 
notations, tiN C II and liS C ," was broken off when the marker was hit by a car in 1977 
On the portion of the stone remaining at the original site can be seen "A.D. 1813." 
As a res ul t of vanda 1 ism, however, the three appears to be an ei ght, and wi thout close 
examination the date appears to be 1818. 

The top portion of the stone is currently located at the Lancaster County Highway 
Department. The late Mr. Joseph Croxton, .loca1 architect and historian, has devised 
a plan for repairing the marker. 

Surroundings: The cornerstone sits in a grassy open space beside the dirt road leading 
to A M.E Zion Church 
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The North Carolina-South Carolina Cornerstone is located on the boundary between Lancaster 
County, South Carolina, and Union County, North Carolina. Disputes over the boundary 
between North Carolina and South Carolina arose as early as 1730 and continued until 
1815. The cornerstone was erected in 1813 by commissioners appointed by the two states 
to survey the boundary between the western termination of the boundary line which hac 
been run in 1764 and the southeast corner of the Catawba lands. Confusion had long 
existed about this section of the boundary between North Carolina and South Carolina, 
which is also a part of the present boundary of Lancaster County. As a result con-
fusion over political jurisdiction had arisen. The North Carolina-South Carolina 
Cornerstone represents an important settlement in the lengthy boundary dispute between 
the two states. 

Additional Information: 

One of the first acts of the British Crown after acqulrlng Carolina in July 1729 
was to officially divide it, into two provinces: North Carolina, whose governor was 
Captain George Burrington; and South Carolina, whose governor was Colonel Robert 
Johnson At a meeting in London with the Board of Trade in January 1730, Governors 
Johnson and Burrington agreed that the dividing line between the two colonies would 
begin at a point thirty miles southwest of the Cape Fear River and run parallel to 
the river at that distance for its entire course. l 

On 10 June 1730 at a meeting of His Majesty's Board of Trade a set of 124 instructions 
was issued to Governor Johnson, the 110th of which defined the boundary. This instruction 
stated that the line should be run beginning at a point thirty miles southwest of the 
mouth of the Cape Fear River. Then it should follow the course of the river at a dis­
tance of thirty miles until it reached the head. From this point the boundary line 
should be continued due west to the South Seas. Confusion arose, however, because the 
instruction also included the phrase, "But, if Waggamaw ~iver lyes within 30 miles of 
Cape Fear River, then that River to be ye Boundary .... " Governor Johnson and Governor 
Burrington interpreted this instruction differently. Since the head of the Waccamaw 
River was within ten miles of the Cape Fear River, Governor Burrington contended that 
the Waccamaw Fiver was the boundary. Governor Johnson argued that a mistake had been 
made in the wording of the instruction; it should have read, "u'nless the Mouth of the 
Wackamaw River, was within thirty Miles of Cape Fear River." The mouth of the Waccamaw 
was over fifty miles from the mouth of the CaQe Fear. Governor Johnson requested that 
this matter be studied by the Board of Trade 3 

In 1735 commissioners from both provinces reached a compromise. The line would begin 
at the sea, thirty miles southwest of the mouth of the Cape Fear River. From thence 
it would be run on a straight northwest course to the thirty-fifth parallel 'of north 
lati'tude and from thence due west to the South St;as. It was also agreed that the line 
should be set off, if necessary, to include the Catawba Indians in South Carolina. When 
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the line was run in May, the commissioners stopped the place where the Little 
River crossed the IICountry Road ll and agreed to meet again in September to continue 
the line. The South Carolina commissioners did not appear on the agreed date, and 
the North Carolina commissioners ran the line about seventy miles northwest. 
In 1737 the line was extended twenty miles northwest to a point believed to be the 
thirty-fifth parallel. (See Map A.) N~thing was done to complete the marking of the 
boundary line for almost thirty years. 

According to a statement by the Crown in 1763, the lack of a line between the 
western portions of the two provinces Ilhad caused much mischief and confusion ll 
on the frontiers. In 1764, at the instructions of the Crown, commissioners from 
South Carolina and North Carolina continued the line of jurisdiction between the 
two provinces due west from the stake at the termination of the survey of 1737, 
in accord with the agreement of 1735. The Crown had directed that the line 
stop at the eastern limits of the land claimed by the Catawba Indians. When 
it was run, however, the line fell south of the eastern boundary of the Catawba 
lands, and the commissioners stoppped at the road from Charleston, South Carolina, 
to Salisbury, North Carolina. 5 (See Map B.) 

Soon uncertainty and disputes over jurisdiction arose in the area west of where the 
line stopped. North Carolina wanted the boundary to be extended along the thirty-fifth 
degree of north latitude. The province of South Carolina objected to continuing the 
boundary along this line because territory to the northwest of the Catawba lands which 
had been considered part of South Carolina would become part of North Carolina. Also, 
Lieutenant Governor Bull of South Carolina argued that the Catawbas had been protected 
by South Carolina and wished to remain under the influence of that province. 6 

In 1769 a committee of the council of South Carolina reported that the line of 1764 
was eleven miles south of thirty-five degrees north latitude that the Crown had intended. 
(See Map C.) By this error the province had lost about 422,000 acres of land. If 
the line were continued west in the 7ame direction, South Carolina would lose almost 
600,000 more acres of valuable land. 

In 1771, contrary to the wishes of North Carolina, the Board of Trade instructed 
Governor Montagu, 

Now it is Our Will and Pleasure, and you are hereby authorized and 
required_to appoint Commissioners to proceed jointly with Commrs . to be 
appointed by our Governor of North Carolina, in continuing ,the Boundary 
Line from the said Salisbury Road, where it now ends, along the said Road 
to where it enters the Catawba Lands, from thence along the Southern, 
Eastern, and Northern Boundary of the said Lands, to where the Catawba 
River enters the said Lands on the North; from thence to follow the middle 
Stream of that River northerly to the confluence of the Northern and Southern 
branches thereof, and from thence due West, until it reaches the Line 
agreed upon by the Cherokee Indians, as a Boundary between their Country 
and the Settlements of our Subjects, .... 11 

8 
This line was drawn in 1772. (See Map D). 
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In 1772 no survey was made of the boundary line from that point on the Charleston­
Salisbury Road where the line of 1764 ended to the southeastern corner of the 
Catawba lands. The road was regarded as the boundary line. Because the road was 
winding, confusion over political jurisdiction arose. In 1808 commissioners from 
both states agreed that from the termination of the line of 1764 the permanent boundary 
line should be run in a direct course to the southeast corner of the Catawba lands 
instead of following the Salisbury Road. In 1813 the line was surveyed and the 
commissioners erected a stone by the side of the road at the end of the line of 1764 
and engraved "N.C," on the north side and "S.C." on the south side. (See Map E.) 
The line was approved by the South Carolina General Assembly in December .'813. 9 
By this decision South Carolina gained considerable territory. The South Carolina 
legislature passed an act on 18 December 1813 incorporating this territory in the 
district of Lancaster. According to a survey done by the United States Coastal 
and Geodetic Commission in 1934, the North Carolina-South Carolina Cornerstone is 
indeed located at the corner of the two states. 10 

Between 1808 and 1815 North Carolina and South Carolina agreed u~on the present 
boundary between the two states to the west of the line of 1772. 1 This marked 
the end of the long boundary dispute. 
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